
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA 

WESTERN DIVISION 
CASE NO. 5:14-CV00076 

 
 

 
HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC, a New 
Jersey limited liability company 

 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

KIDSVILLE NEWS! INC., a North Carolina 
corporation, 
 
 Defendant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
ELECTRONICALLY FILED 
 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
 NOW COMES, Plaintiff, HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC, by and through its undersigned 

attorneys, and states and complains the following against KIDSVILLE NEWS!, INC.: 

     1.         Plaintiff, HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC (“Plaintiff”) seeks damages and/or the 

return of all monies invested in the KIDSVILLE NEWS! business that Plaintiff owned and operated 

under the “License Agreement,” described below, between HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC and 

KIDSVILLE NEWS! INC. (“Defendant”).  Plaintiff also seeks a declaration that all contracts between 

Plaintiff and Defendant are null and void because Defendant sold an illegal franchise by failing to provide 

the required disclosures before selling the franchise in violation the Federal Franchise Rule (16 C.F.R. § 

436 et seq.) (“Franchise Rule”), resulting in a violation of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§75-1, et seq.  Plaintiff is entitled to recover its actual and consequential 

damages and/or restitution and/or the return of the amount invested in the business as a result of 

Defendant’s wrongful conduct.  

PARTIES 

2. Plaintiff is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of New 

Jersey, with its principal place of business in in the State of New Jersey.  
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3. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Defendant is a North 

Carolina corporation with its principal place of business in Fayetteville, North Carolina.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 4. This Court has jurisdiction over this Complaint because Plaintiff and Defendant have 

both engaged in purposeful activity within Fayetteville, North Carolina.  Further, this Court has subject 

matter jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(1) because Plaintiff and Defendants are 

citizens of different states and the amount in controversy exceeds $75,000.  

 5. This Court is the proper venue for this dispute under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a)(1) because 

Defendant resides within this jurisdiction, and this Court is the proper venue under 28 U.S.C. § 

1391(a)(2) because all or a substantial portion of the events that gave rise to Plaintiff’s claims transpired 

within Fayetteville, North Carolina. 

AGREEMENTS 

 6. On or about May 3, 2010, Plaintiff and Defendant entered into a Publisher License 

Agreement (“Agreement”) wherein Plaintiff was granted “a non-exclusive, non-transferable license to use 

the Trademarks in connection with publishing the Custom Publication in the Territory, and advertising 

thereof, including use on signage, print advertising, correspondence with potential and existing readers, 

sponsors and advertisers and other promotional materials used in connection with publishing the Custom 

Publication during the Term” of the Agreement.  (Agreement, Sec. 2.1.)   

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Violation Of The North Carolina Unfair And Deceptive Trade Practices Act 

N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 75-1, et seq.) 

 7. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 8. Section 75-1.1 of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act provides 

that “‘commerce’” includes all business activities, however denominated, but does not include 

professional services rendered by a member of a learned profession.” 

 9. Defendant was at all times relevant hereto, engaged in commerce in the State of North 
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Carolina by selling licensing agreements, including the Agreement at issue from Defendant’s principal 

place of business in the State of North Carolina. 

 10. Section 75-1.1 of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act provides 

that “[u]nfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices 

in or affecting commerce, are declared unlawful.  Under North Carolina law, Defendant’s fraudulent acts 

and misconduct are unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting trade or commerce within the 

meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 et. seq.   

 11. On December 21, 1978, the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) promulgated 16 C.F.R. 

Part 436, et seq. (“Franchise Rule”).  The Franchise Rule requires a franchisor to provide prospective 

franchisees with a complete and accurate basic disclosure document containing twenty categories of 

information.  The Federal Franchise Rule, at 16 C.F.R. § 436.2, provides: “In connection with the offer or 

sale of a franchise to be located in the United States of America or its territories, unless the transaction is 

exempted under subpart E of this part, it is an unfair or deceptive act or practice in violation of Section 5 

of the Federal Trade Commission Act:  (a) For any franchisor to fail to furnish a prospective franchisee 

with a copy of the franchisor's current disclosure document, as described in subparts C and D of this part, 

at least 14 calendar-days before the prospective franchisee signs a binding agreement with, or makes any 

payment to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale.”   

 12. The required contents of the disclosure document are set forth in the Federal Franchise 

Rule at16 C.F.R. § 436.5.  Defendant did not, at any time, provide Plaintiff with said required disclosure 

documents.   

 13. The FTC has issued an advisory opinion noting that “[w]hether a business relationship 

constitutes a ‘franchise,’ is not dependent upon what the parties call the relationship ... [r]ather, a 

relationship is covered by the Franchise Rule if it satisfies the definitional elements of a ‘franchise’ set 

forth in the Franchise Rule.”  Intent is not relevant under the FTC Rule; if the defining elements are 

present the relationship is a franchise.  FTC Informal Staff Advisory Op. 98-4 (1998).   The Franchise 

Rule defines a “Franchise” as follows:  
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Franchise means any continuing commercial relationship or arrangement, whatever it 

may be called, in which the terms of the offer or contract specify, or the franchise seller 

promises or represents, orally or in writing, that: 

(1) The franchisee will obtain the right to operate a business that is identified or 

associated with the franchisor's trademark, or to offer, sell, or distribute goods, services, 

or commodities that are identified or associated with the franchisor's trademark; 

(2) The franchisor will exert or has authority to exert a significant degree of control over 

the franchisee's method of operation, or provide significant assistance in the franchisee's 

method of operation; and 

(3) As a condition of obtaining or commencing operation of the franchise, the franchisee 

makes a required payment or commits to make a required payment to the franchisor or its 

affiliate. 

16 C.F.R. § 436.1(h). 

 14. A “required payment” under the Franchise Rule is defined as: “all consideration that the 

franchisee must pay to the franchisor or an affiliate, either by contract or by practical necessity, as a 

condition of obtaining or commencing operation of the franchise. A required payment does not include 

payments for the purchase of reasonable amounts of inventory at bona fide wholesale prices for resale or 

lease.”  16 C.F.R. § 436.1(s).  At the time Plaintiff and Defendant entered into the subject Agreement, the 

Franchise Rule provided:  

The provisions of part 436 shall not apply if the franchisor can establish any of the 

following: 

(1) The total of the required payments, or commitments to make a required payment, to 

the franchisor or an affiliate that are made any time from before to within six months 

after commencing operation of the franchisee's business is less than $540.  16 C.F.R. § 

436.8(a)(1). 

 15. The relationship between Defendant and Plaintiff constitutes a Franchise under the 
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Federal Franchise Rule because it meets all of the elements of each set forth above.   

 16. The relationship between Plaintiff and Defendant was a “continuing commercial 

relationship.”  The Agreement provides at Section 9:  “This Agreement and the Term of the license 

granted in Section 2 shall commence upon the Effective Date hereof and continue for twelve (12) 

calendar months (each, a “Term”).  Unless sooner terminated as provided in this Section 9, the Term shall 

automatically renew upon the anniversary of the Effective Date for additional Terms. . . .”  The 

Agreement further provides at Section 2.1:  “ . . . Licensor hereby grants Licensee and Licensee hereby 

accepts a non-exclusive, non-transferable license to use the Trademarks in connection with publishing the 

Custom Publication in the Territory, and advertising thereof, including use on signage . . . .” 

 17. The relationship between Plaintiff and Defendant meets the element of the Federal 

Franchise Rule for the definition of a “franchise” in that Plaintiff through the Agreement obtained the 

right to operate a business that was identified or associated with the Defendant’s (franchisor's) trademark, 

or to offer, sell, or distribute goods, services, or commodities that are identified or associated with the 

Defendant’s (franchisor's) trademark.  The Agreement provides: 

Agreement Section 2.1:  “Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, 

Licensor hereby grants Licensee and Licensee hereby accepts a non-exclusive, non-

transferable license to use the Trademarks in connection with publishing the Custom 

Publication in the Territory, and advertising thereof....” 

Agreement Section 2.2: “Licensor hereby grants to Licensee and Licensee hereby accepts 

a non-exclusive, non-transferable license to reproduce, distribute and display the Editorial 

Content, solely in connection with Licensee’s publishing of the Custom Publication 

within the Territory and during the Term.  All Editorial Content shall remain the property 

of Licensor, and materials bearing the Editorial Content shall be destroyed or returned to 

Licensor (at Licensor’s election) promptly upon expiration or termination of this 

Agreement for any reason. Licensee has no right, title, or interest in the Editorial Content 

or any other rights with respect to the Publication except for the rights to the Custom 
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Publication expressly provided in this Agreement.” 

Agreement Section 4: “Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, 

Licensor shall deliver or cause to be delivered the Editorial Content to Licensee each 

month via download from a password-protected portion of Licensor’s website on or 

before the 15th day of the month prior to the publication date for such issue.” 

Agreement Section 7.1: “Twelve (12) monthly issues of the Custom Publication shall be 

published during the Term within the Territory at times and locations of its choosing 

established by Licensee so long as the first issue is published within sixty (60) days of the 

Effective Date, and each monthly issue of the Custom Publication is distributed by no 

later than the 5th day of the month.” 

Agreement Section 7.3: “Licensee may sell advertising in the Custom Publication at rates 

set solely by Licensee, and Licensee may publish and distribute Customized Publication 

at times and locations established by Licensee.” 

Agreement Section 7.6: “Licensee shall activate a website for the Custom Publication at 

the domain name specified by Licensor within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date.” 

 18. The Agreement between Plaintiff and Defendant meets the element under the Federal 

Franchise Rule for the definition of a “franchise,” that Defendant (franchisor) will exert or has authority 

to exert a significant degree of control over the Plaintiff’s (franchisee’s) method of operation, or provide 

significant assistance in the franchisee's method of operation.  Plaintiff was granted an exclusive territory 

(Agreement, Sec. 5), and in addition to exercising controls not even contained in the Agreement, the 

Agreement purportedly requires Plaintiff to:  

a.  use the Trademarks only in the form and manner, and with appropriate trademark 

designations, as prescribed from time to time by Licensor, etc., except as expressly 

permitted in the License Agreement or with the prior written consent of Licensor. 

(Agreement, Sec 6.1.); 

b.  not modify the Trademarks or Editorial Content, including but not limited to, 
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modification of the KIDSVILLE NEWS! Trademarks, or modifications of any likeness of 

the TrumanSM dragon character, except with the prior written consent of Kidsville. 

(Agreement, Sec 6.1.); 

c.  agree that the quality of the Customized Publication shall be of a quality 

consistent with the standards set forth on the schedule attached to the License Agreement 

and incorporated there as Schedule C and such other requirements established by 

Licensor from time to time. (Agreement, Sec. 6.2.); 

d.  promote the Custom Publication through appearance of TrumanSM, and purchase 

Truman mascot costume, and ensure that all appearance of TrumanSM would be consistent 

with the quality standards set forth on Schedule C. (Agreement, Sec. 6.3.); 

e.  agree that any name, slogan, logo or other mark suggested for use in connection 

with the Custom Publication by my client and approved by Kidsville shall be deemed a 

Trademark under the License Agreement and shall exclusively be owned by Kidsville 

and licensed to my client. (Agreement, Sec. 6.4.); 

f.  facilitate Kidsville’s control over the quality of the goods and services provided 

on connection with my client’s use of the Trademarks by providing six (6) or more print 

copies of each issue of each edition of the Custom Publication to Kidsville within two 

weeks of the publication date of each issue of the Custom Publication, and provide 

Kidsville with specimens of all other uses of the Trademarks upon request. (Agreement, 

Sec. 6.5.); 

g.  facilitate Kidsville’s verification of the circulation of the Custom Publication by 

annually providing Kidsville with copies of: (i) Printer’s verification statement or copies 

of printer’s invoice; (ii) Route distribution lists by location and zip codes; and (iii) a 

client’s then current rate card for the Custom Publication. (Agreement, Sec. 6.6.); 

h.  publish 12 monthly issues of the Custom Publication during the Term within the 

Territory with the first issue being published within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date 
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and each monthly issue being distributed by no later than the 5th day of the month. 

(Agreement, Sec. 7.1.); 

i.  obtain the approval of Kidsville of the local editorial content and special event 

information material in the Custom Publication. (Publisher License Agreement, Sec. 

7.2.); 

j.  reserve one full page of ROP advertising space for Kidsville without charge in 

each edition of the Custom Publication each month, with Kidsville retaining all revenue 

received therefrom. (Agreement, Sec. 7.3.); 

k.  permit Kidsville to sell national advertising into the Custom Publication at a 

negotiated per page rate per thousand proportionally charged to advertisers based on ad 

size, with Kidsville retaining 30% of the revenue received therefrom. (Agreement, Sec. 

7.5.); 

l. activate a website for the Custom Publication at the domain name specified by 

Kidsville within 60 days of the Effective Date. (Agreement, Sec. 7.6.); and 

m. submit Certification Verification Council (CVC) audit reports directly to the 

Fayetteville Office of the Defendant. (Email from Jack A. Schultz, VP-National Market 

Development, Kidsville News! Inc., dated March 4, 2013). 

 19. Plaintiff made a required payment or committed to make a required payment to 

Defendant or its affiliate as a condition of obtaining or commencing operation of the business under the 

Agreement (franchise) as defined by the Federal Franchise Rule.   The Agreement provides at Section 8: 

“Licensee shall pay to Licensor an annual License Fee of thirteen thousand eight hundred dollars 

($13,800), which shall be paid in quarterly installments, in advance. . . .”  After signing the Agreement, 

Plaintiff paid a total of $6,900 to Defendant, including $1,150 for the quarterly License Fee.   

  20. Defendant violated the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, N.C. 

Gen. Stat. §§75-1, et seq, when Defendant failed to provide the required disclosures under the Federal 

Franchise Rule prior to the date Plaintiff and Defendant entered into the Agreement.  In so doing, 
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Defendant committed a deceptive and unfair trade practice by holding itself out as a licensor (versus a 

franchisor), without complying with the required laws and regulations governing franchising regarding 

providing the disclosures to prospective franchisees, including Plaintiff, as required by the Federal 

Franchise Rule.    

 21. As a result of Defendant’s illegal behavior described above, including but not limited to, 

failing to provide the required disclosures as required under the Franchise Rule, there was no opportunity 

for Plaintiff to evaluate fully whether there were any red flags which would have cautioned Plaintiff to 

slow down and evaluate more fully the opportunity being offered by Defendant. 

 22. Plaintiff has suffered injury in fact and has lost money and property as a result of 

Defendant’s actions and practices herein alleged.  Such injury consists of monies paid to Defendant under 

the Agreement, as well as consequential damages.  

23. As described more fully above, Defendant violated the Federal Franchise Rule by its 

actions.  Those actions of Defendant also constitute unfair and deceptive business practices under the 

North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§75-1, et seq.  because 

Defendant’s practices violate the laws and regulations specified in this Complaint, violate established 

public policy, and are immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous and substantially injurious to 

Plaintiff.   

 24. By engaging in the above-described practices and actions, Defendants has committed one 

or more acts of unfair competition within the meaning of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§75-1, et seq. 

 25. The Defendant’s actions alleged herein were willful, and there was an unwarranted 

refusal by Defendant to fully resolve the matter that constitutes the basis of this action.    

 26. Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16, Plaintiff is entitled to recover, and hereby requests, 

its actual damages and damages in the amount three times its actual injury. 

 27. Plaintiff is further entitled to recover, and hereby requests, and award of its reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and all costs of this action pursuant to N.C Gen. Stat. § 75-16.1. 

Case 5:14-cv-00076-FL   Document 1   Filed 02/11/14   Page 9 of 12



 10 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
(Fraud By Omission) 

 28. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all of the allegations set forth in the 

preceding paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

 29. As alleged more fully above, in several communications preceding the parties’ execution 

of the Agreement, Defendant omitted material representations of fact, which it had a duty to disclose 

pursuant to the Federal Franchise Rule.  

 30. Defendant concealed the above-identified material facts knowing Plaintiff was acting 

upon the assumption that the facts disclosed were the whole truth.  

 31. Defendant knew of the materiality of the above described omitted representations at the 

time said representations were omitted. 

 32. Defendant omitted the above-described material facts with the intent to deceive Plaintiff, 

and to induce Plaintiff to enter into the subject Agreement. 

 33. Plaintiff heard such representations, minus the material facts omitted, prior to the signing 

of the Agreement. Plaintiff justifiably relied on the aforementioned representations and statements 

therein, minus the material omissions, in deciding to enter into the Agreement.  Plaintiff, at the time of 

executing the Agreement, did not know, and had no cause to believe or suspect, that the representations in 

question were deceptive based on the omission of the material facts described above. 

 34. As a proximate result of Defendant’s fraudulent omissions/actions herein alleged, 

Plaintiff was induced to enter into the Agreement. But for Defendant’s fraudulent actions, Plaintiff would 

not have entered into the Agreement with Defendant. 

 35. As a proximate result of Defendant’s fraudulent omissions/conduct, Plaintiff has been 

damaged in an amount in excess of $350,000.00 to be established by proof at the time of trial. 

 36. Furthermore, the conduct of Defendant described herein was fraudulent, was committed 

with malice, or was willful or wanton conduct, thereby entitling Plaintiff to punitive damages against 

Defendant in an amount appropriate to punish or set an example of Defendant. 
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 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment as follows: 

1. Declare that Agreement is rescinded;   

2. Award Plaintiff general, economic, compensatory, special, punitive and/or treble 

damages as applicable for each cause of action, in amounts according to proof at trial, 

with interest thereon;  

3. Award to Plaintiffs all other remedies provided for in the North Carolina Unfair and 

Deceptive Trade Practices Act and common law for the violations described in each 

cause of action, including treble damages pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16;  

4. Award Plaintiff restitution consisting of all amounts paid to or on behalf of Defendant, in 

purchasing, establishing, opening and operating the business under the Agreement;  

5. Grant any other equitable relief so as to restore to Plaintiff any money or property, real or 

personal, which may have been acquired by Defendant by means of Defendant’s 

violation of the North Carolina Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act;  

6. Award Plaintiff its costs, disbursements, and attorneys’ fees, incurred herein, and; 

7. Award Plaintiff such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and appropriate.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

        Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 
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This the 11th day of February 2014   
 

HOMETOWN PUBLISHING, LLC 
 
By: 
 
  /s/ Mario L. Herman    
Mario L. Herman 
(Special Appearance Attorney) 
DC Bar # 370706 
Law Offices of Mario L. Herman 
5335 Wisconsin Ave. NW, Suite 440 
Washington, D.C. 20015 
T: 202.686.2886 
mherman@franchise-law.com 
 
  /s/ Joshua M. Hiller    
Joshua M. Hiller 
(Local Counsel Per LR 83.1) 
NC Bar # 39010 
Hiller Law, PLLC 
1000 CentreGreen Way, Suite 200 
Cary, North Carolina 27513 
T: 919.607.2205 
josh@hiller-law.com 

Counsel for Plaintiff Hometown Publishing, LLC 
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